\$258574



# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF BUTTE, COUNTY OF PLUMAS et al.,

Petitioners and Appellants,

v.

**DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES** 

Respondent.

### STATE WATER CONTRACTORS, INC. et al. Real Parties in Interest and Respondents.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Third Appellate District Case No. C071785

Appeal from the Yolo County Superior Court, Case No. CVCV091258 The Honorable Daniel P. Maguire, Judge Presiding

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

(1) Does the Federal Power Act contain an unmistakably clear statement preempting California's sovereign authority to require compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act before the Department of Water Resources may approve the terms under which it will pursue relicensing of its Oroville Facilities?

(2) Where the federal Clean Water Act requires state certification to show compliance with state water quality laws, does Federal Energy Regulatory Commission jurisdiction over future dam relicensing preempt a CEQA challenge to the environmental impact report supporting that state certification?

#### **GROUNDS FOR REVIEW**

Petitioners and Appellants County of Butte, County of Plumas, and Plumas County Flood Control and Water Conservation District (collectively, "Counties") respectfully petition for review of the published opinion by the Court of Appeal, Third District in *County of Butte et al. v. Department of Water Resources et al.* (September 5, 2019, C071785) ("Opinion"), attached as Exhibit A.

The Opinion, which follows this Court's unanimous grant of review and transfer, is the second in this case that fails to follow *Friends of the Eel River v. North Coast Railroad Authority* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 677. Instead, the Opinion concludes that the Federal Power Act preempts the Department of Water Resources' ("DWR") obligation to comply with the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA," Pub. Resources Code § 21000, et seq.) for its decision to pursue relicensing of hydroelectric facilities at Oroville Dam. Review is necessary to address important issues of law and restore uniformity concerning the scope of California's sovereign authority to govern its subdivisions, including those controlling state water resources. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

When this Court granted review earlier this year, it instructed the appellate court to reconsider its preemption holding in light of *Friends of the Eel River*. After transfer, DWR agreed with the Counties that *Friends of the Eel River* forecloses preemption here and requested the appellate court to adjudicate the merits of the case. Without mentioning DWR's new position, the Opinion draws essentially the same conclusions as before, arguing that *Friends of the Eel River* is inapplicable to preemption under the Federal Power Act.

In doing so, the Opinion conflicts with at least three lines of authority, all defeating CEQA preemption. *First*, the Opinion continues to contravene *Friends of the Eel River*. The Opinion's overly broad reading of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission's ("FERC") Alternative Licensing Process and preemption under the Federal Power Act wipes away California's power to require its agencies to comply with CEQA in decisions about how to use state water resources and facilities—including whether to seek relicensing for the largest state-owned dam.

*Friends of the Eel River* requires that this preemption analysis start with the "presumption that Congress would not alter the balance between state and federal powers without doing so in *unmistakably clear* language." (3 Cal.5th at 705, italics added; internal citations omitted.) This presumption "protect[s] against undue federal incursions into the internal, sovereign concerns of the states." (*Id.*) Abandoning this protection, the Opinion attempts to craft a separate preemption rule for the Federal Power Act, which lacks the required unmistakably clear statement of preemptive intent. This result improperly circumscribes California's sovereign authority to govern DWR's decisions regarding the Oroville Facilities.

Second, the Opinion conflicts with County of Amador v. El Dorado County Water Agency (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 931. There, the Third District highlighted CEQA's critical informational role and held that the Federal Power Act does not preempt CEQA for publicly owned hydroelectric facilities that serve consumptive water uses. Without citing County of Amador, the Opinion reaches a contrary conclusion, even though Oroville Dam is also a keystone of the State Water Project's water storage and delivery system and serves multiple uses.

*Third*, the Opinion interferes with CEQA compliance as an "appropriate requirement" of state law informing water quality certification by the State Water Resources Control Board ("State Board"), authority that

Congress reserved solely to states under Clean Water Act section 401. (33 U.S.C. § 1341(d); *PUD No. 1 of Jefferson County v. Washington Department of Ecology* (1994) 511 U.S. 700, 712-22 ("*Jefferson County*").)

To aid this outcome, the Opinion maintains two untenable conclusions from the first appellate opinion: (1) that the "environmental predicate" to section 401 water quality certification is subject to FERC review, and (2) that CEQA water quality compliance can await a later "implementation" stage. (See e.g., Opinion at 5, 6, 11-12, 19-20, 32.) Remarkably, the Opinion ignores that the State Board, the agency responsible for 401 certifications, previously concluded both of these positions were "incorrect as a matter of law" and "will mislead future litigants." (State Board letter requesting depublication (Feb. 15, 2019) at 2-3 ("Request for Depublication").) Further, although the Opinion recognizes a water quality certificate "did not exist" within the timeframe for challenging DWR's Environmental Impact Report ("EIR") (Opinion at 32), it fails to apply black-letter law meant to ensure consistent adjudication of state environmental review in a single action against the lead agency, rather than multiple actions against lead and responsible agencies.

Without review, the Opinion casts substantial uncertainty over environmental review of state agency decisions to relicense California's many dam projects and deters full consideration of environmental impacts. Review is necessary to resolve these important issues and restore

uniformity in the law.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Background: the Oroville Dam and DWR's Relicensing Efforts

DWR owns and operates the Oroville Facilities on the Feather River in Butte County, a keystone of the State Water Project's storage and delivery system. Built between 1961 and 1968, Oroville Dam is the "largest earthen dam in the United States," and its facilities are "operated for power generation, water quality improvement in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta, recreation, fish and wildlife enhancement, and flood management." (Opinion at 7.) The dam "blocks access to 66.9 miles of high-quality habitat for anadromous fish," including salmon and steelhead. (*Id.* at 4.) Its operation impairs regional water quality (Administrative Record ("AR") G002440) and imposes ecological and economic costs on Butte County (AR G002549-93).

DWR acts as both project proponent and CEQA lead agency for the Oroville Facilities relicensing project. DWR's 50-year federal license to own, operate, and maintain the Oroville Dam (FERC Project No. 2100) expired on January 31, 2007. (AR B035070.) Since then, the Oroville Facilities have operated on temporary annual licenses. No decision has been made on a new federal license.

In 2001, FERC granted DWR permission to utilize FERC's

Alternative Licensing Process, 18 C.F.R., section 4.34(i), which authorizes certain "alternative procedures for pre-filing consultation and the filing and processing of an application" for a new license. (AR B000617-18.) Neither state nor federal agencies anticipated that the Alternative Licensing Process would supersede CEQA's application to DWR's relicensing decisions.

Instead, DWR proceeded with the environmental review required by state law. In 2001, DWR issued an initial NEPA/CEQA scoping notice. (AR C000027.) In 2003, DWR issued an amended NEPA/CEQA notice recognizing that an EIR may be required, both for decision-making by the State Water Resources Control Board "over Section 401 Water Quality Certification" *and* "to support decision-making by DWR." (AR C001739.) The notice recognized "all the requirements of NEPA and CEQA must eventually be satisfied." (AR C001740.) DWR undertook the role of "Lead Agency in preparing the EIR for the relicensing of the Oroville Facilities and for use by the SWRCB in issuing Section 401 Water Quality Certification." (*Id.*) The State Board agreed to review the project as a CEQA responsible agency. (AR E000792, F003271.)

In January 2005, DWR applied to FERC to renew its license for another 50 years. (AR B066039-50.) Butte and Plumas Counties expressed concern about extensive project impacts that would accompany operating the Oroville Facilities for another half-century. (AR C001817-19.)

In March 2006, DWR filed a proposed Settlement Agreement with

FERC (AR D000422), which replaced DWR's 2005 application and became the proposed project under CEQA. Butte and Plumas Counties were unable to reach an agreement with DWR, and were excluded from final discussions culminating in the Settlement Agreement. (AR F002488-96.) The Settlement Agreement recognized that "several regulatory and statutory processes are not yet complete." (AR G001109.) It stated that before issuance of a new project license, "each Public Agency shall participate in the relicensing proceeding, including environmental review and consideration of public comments, as required by applicable law." (AR G001111.)

In May 2007, DWR issued its Oroville Facilities Project Draft EIR. (AR G000004, G000130.) DWR planned to "use the FEIR and any supplemental CEQA documents to make all necessary decisions for acceptance and implementation of the new FERC Project License" and implementation of the Settlement Agreement. (AR G000134.) DWR recognized that beyond generating hydroelectric power, its project objectives over the proposed license term also required DWR to meet multiple other commitments and requirements analyzed in the EIR, including decisions affecting water supply, flood control, and protection of

Delta water quality and fisheries. (AR G000128, G000190-91.)<sup>1</sup> DWR's EIR also confirmed its role as the sole environmental review document informing the State Board's section 401 water quality certification, as well as other decisions of responsible and trustee agencies. (AR G000134; see also AR G000110.)

The Counties submitted detailed EIR comments, identifying significant unaddressed environmental impacts and deficient assessment of alternatives and mitigation. (AR G002406-813.) The Counties and other interested parties criticized DWR's decision to test project performance only under a portion of the past century's range of hydrologic conditions, noting that leading scientists, including DWR's own, had discredited this assumption due to the wider range of flood and drought conditions expected in the new century.<sup>2</sup> DWR's Final EIR refused further study, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although in one passage, the Opinion portrays DWR's project as simply a set of measures "to further mitigate the loss of habitat caused by the construction of the dam" (Opinion at 17), the project includes DWR's proposed terms and conditions for relicensing the whole of the Oroville Facilities (AR A000015). To meet the project's "water and power" objectives (Opinion at 3), DWR needed to show it could continue generating electric power while complying with multiple "statutory, contractual water supply, flood management, and environmental commitments," as well as fishery, water quality, and other obligations (AR A000013; see also AR G000128, G000158, G000160-63 [describing project objectives]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Butte County's EIR comments, among others, criticized DWR for slighting the risk of "catastrophic flooding in and downstream of Oroville" from a "failure or uncontrolled spill" at Oroville dam. (AR H000235.)

perpetuated many of the errors identified in EIR comments.

In July 2008, DWR certified the Final EIR and issued its decision approving the Oroville Facilities project. (AR A000003-102.) DWR's Decision Document clarified that DWR's exercise of discretion over the project would not usurp the still-unmade FERC decision on the proposed project license. After considering the EIR and other pertinent information, "the Director will determine whether to approve the Proposed Project." (AR A000007.) Although approval "will not lead to immediate implementation" of the Settlement Agreement, once FERC issues a new license, "DWR will have 30 days to decide whether to accept the license and license conditions." (*Id.*) If FERC's license is for the proposed project or for the FERC staff alternative analyzed in DWR's EIR, "no additional analysis under CEQA is required and the DWR Director may accept the license." (*Id.*)

# **B.** After the Trial Court Decides the Merits, the Court of Appeal Rules, Sua Sponte, that the Federal Power Act Preempts this Case.

In August 2008, the Counties filed CEQA petitions for writ of mandate in Butte County Superior Court, which were consolidated and transferred to Yolo County Superior Court. (Appellants' Appendix ("AA") 1-28 (Butte County petition), 30-43 (Plumas County petition).) The trial court adjudicated the merits of CEQA compliance in DWR's favor in June 2012. (AA 3046-63.)

Through merits briefing in the trial court and on appeal, DWR and real parties in interest State Water Contractors, et al. ("SWC") defended the necessity and adequacy of the EIR without questioning state court jurisdiction to adjudicate DWR's CEQA compliance.<sup>3</sup> However, in April 2016, the Third District Court of Appeal directed the parties, sua sponte, to brief whether the proscription on state "veto power" over projects subject to the Federal Power Act, and DWR's Settlement Agreement under FERC's Alternative Licensing Process, preempted the Counties' CEQA challenge. (April 11, 2016 Order at 2-3.)

In its since-vacated December 20, 2018 Opinion, the Third District held that Federal Power Act preemption barred the Counties from challenging the Oroville Facilities EIR, or the project decisions it supported, and dismissed the appeal ("2018 Opinion").

# C. This Court Grants the Counties' Petition for Review and Instructs the Court of Appeal to Reconsider Its Ruling in Light of *Friends of the Eel River*.

The Counties petitioned for review on January 29, 2019. Their

petition argued that the 2018 Opinion would sow uncertainty in relicensing

proceedings throughout California, and was inconsistent with (1) this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., AR A000033, A000059, A000102, A000003-28, C000038, C000055-56, C001236-52, C001733-62, C001740, 0000148, 0000434, G001015, H00015, H000181, H000186, H000149-50, H004699, I001351; AA 0176-0221, 2304-65, 2444-506; SWC Respondents' Brief, May 31, 2013, at 10-13, 89; DWR Respondents' Brief, June 24, 2013, at 3, 8-15, 22, 120.

Court's holding in *Friends of the Eel River*, and (2) California's delegated authority under the federal Clean Water Act.

After consulting with DWR, the State Board requested depublication of the 2018 Opinion due to misstatements of law and fact. The State Board argued that the 2018 Opinion erroneously concluded that the "environmental predicate" to certification is subject to FERC review, and that CEQA compliance can await a later "implementation" stage. (Request for Depublication at 2-3.)<sup>4</sup>

DWR did not answer the Counties' petition for review, but SWC did. SWC's Answer primarily argued that because *Friends of the Eel River* involved a separate federal statute, the Interstate Commerce Commission Termination Act (or "ICCTA"), it should not alter the Third District's ruling under the Federal Power Act. (SWC Answer to Petition for Review at 20-24.) According to SWC, the ICCTA's partial deregulatory purpose distinguished it from the Federal Power Act. (*Id.* at 24-25.) SWC further suggested that preemption arose from "unmistakable language" in the Federal Power Act. (*Id.* at 21-23.)

On April 10, 2019, this Court granted the petition for review,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Several amici—including the California State Association of Counties; Friends of the River, California Sportfishing Protection Alliance, and Friends of the Eel River; and California Water Impact Network and AquAlliance—submitted letters supporting the petition for review. No letters opposed review.

vacated the 2018 Opinion, and transferred the matter to the Third District with instructions to "reconsider the case in light of *Friends of the Eel River*." (*County of Butte v. Department of Water Resources* (2019) 245

Cal.Rptr.3d 411.)

# D. The Court of Appeal Rejects Application of *Friends of the Eel River* and Again Concludes that the Federal Power Act Preempts this Case.

After transfer to the Court of Appeal, the Counties stated that *Friends of the Eel River* applied, and that its principles, as well as California's authority under the federal 401 certification program, removed this case from the Federal Power Act's preemptive sphere. DWR likewise argued that "the Federal Power Act should not be read to preempt the State from requiring one of its own agencies – here, DWR – to comply with CEQA in undertaking its own project." (DWR Supplemental Opening Brief at 8.) DWR asked the Court of Appeal to reach the merits of the Counties' CEQA claims. Only SWC, representing parties that did not prepare the EIR or have decision-making responsibility, continued to argue for preemption.

Drawing heavily from SWC's arguments, the new Opinion once again concludes that the Federal Power Act preempts this case. Specifically, it contrasts the ICCTA's deregulatory purpose with FERC's regulatory authority over environmental protection. (Opinion at 25-26.) It also states that the clear statement rule articulated in *Friends of the Eel River* does not extend to the Federal Power Act (*id.* at 26-27) and that "CEQA laws . . . are regulatory acts pure and simple" (*id.* at 29). Applying preemption even to the EIR's role in informing the State Board's water quality certification, the Opinion concludes that the "environmental predicate" for certification is subject to FERC review (*id.* at 5), and that CEQA water quality compliance can await a later "implementation" stage (*id.* at 19). The Opinion does not mention the State Board's rejection of these positions.

### ARGUMENT

# I. The Opinion Raises an Important Issue of Whether the Federal Power Act May Interfere with California's Control of DWR Without an "Unmistakably Clear" Statement from Congress.

Both this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court have narrowly

construed otherwise-broad preemption clauses where they threaten to preempt a state's control of its subdivisions. Due to the serious federalism concerns that such preemption would raise, courts may not construe a federal statute to preempt state control over subdivisions absent an "unmistakably clear statement" that this was Congress's intent.

Although the Opinion attempts to craft an exception to this rule for the Federal Power Act, nothing in the Act exhibits *any* Congressional intent to interfere with California's sovereign authority over its subdivisions. With no sound basis for interpreting the Federal Power Act differently, the Opinion directly conflicts with *Friends of the Eel River* and the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Nixon v. Missouri Municipal League* (2004)

541 U.S. 125.

# A. California Exercises Its Sovereignty by Requiring DWR to Comply with CEQA.

"Through the structure of its government . . . a state defines itself as a sovereign." (*Gregory v. Ashcroft* (1991) 501 U.S. 452, 460.) Thus, the "number, nature and duration of the powers conferred upon these [agencies] . . . rests in the absolute discretion of the State." (*California Redevelopment Assn. v. Matosantos* (2011) 53 Cal.4th 231, 254-55 [quoting *Hunter v. Pittsburgh* (1907) 207 U.S. 161, 178-79].)

*Friends of the Eel River* recognized that CEQA review for public projects is an essential element of state self-governance in California. "CEQA prescribes how governmental decisions will be made when public entities, including the state itself, are charged with approving, funding—or *themselves undertaking*—a project with significant effects on the environment." (*Friends of the Eel River*, 3 Cal.5th at 712 [citing Pub. Resources Code § 21065].) Requiring compliance with CEQA goes to the very heart of California's sovereign authority over its subdivisions.

DWR's decisions were subject to CEQA because they were an exercise of governmental discretion over a public project with significant environmental effects. Relicensing Oroville Dam was not mandatory. DWR *chose* to pursue and propose terms for relicensing, and its EIR was integral to this decision-making. As DWR's FEIR Decision Document explained,

"after certification of the EIR, the DWR Director *may approve the Proposed Project* and DWR can file a Notice of Determination of this approval. . . . When FERC issues a new license, DWR will have 30 days to *decide whether to accept the license and license conditions*." (AR 000008, DWR decisions italicized.) The Settlement Agreement similarly assured that "[a]fter the . . . Settlement Agreement but prior to the issuance of the New Project License, each Public Agency shall participate in the relicensing proceeding, including environmental review and consideration of public comments, as required by applicable law." (AR G000111.)

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