In the Supreme Court of the State of California

COUNTY OF BUTTE, COUNTY OF PLUMAS, et al.

Petitioners and Appellants,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES,

Defendant and Respondent.

STATE WATER CONTRACTORS, INC. et al., Real Parties in Interest and Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Third Appellate District Case No. C071785

Appeal from Superior Court Yolo County Case No. CV09-1258 The Honorable Daniel P. Maguire, Judge Presiding

DOWNEY BRAND LLP David R.E. Aladjem (SBN 152203) 621 Capitol Mall, 18th Floor Sacramento, CA 95814 Telephone: (916) 444-1000 Facsimile: (916) 444-2100 daladjem@downeybrand.com DUANE MORRIS LLP

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

3. The Court of Appeal Decision is Also Entirely Consistent with *County of Amador*.

Petitioners further argue the Court of Appeal's Opinion "fails to confront conflicts" in its own opinion in *County of Amador v. El Dorado County Water Agency* (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 931. (Petition at pp. 29-31.) The claim is surprising since *County of Amador* was authored by Justice Hull, who is also on the Third District panel that decided this case. Petitioners appear to be

arguing that *County of Amador* holds that CEQA is not preempted where the dam at issue is operating for multiple purposes, including water consumption. (*Ibid.*) But Petitioners' argument not only mischaracterizes the holding of *County of Amador*, it overlooks that proprietary water rights are not at issue in this FERC relicensing dispute.

In County of Amador, the proprietary water rights of a FERC-licensed project were being transferred to a different entity and for a different use – consumption instead of solely power generation. (76 Cal.App.4th at 939.) Importantly, the FERC license was not at issue. Because County of Amador involved proprietary water rights, control of which Congress expressly ceded to the states through Section 27 of the Federal Power Act (16 U.S.C. § 821), the Court made abundantly clear that its authority to hear the case and apply state law (CEQA) derived exclusively from Section 27's specific and limited delegation of authority to states over proprietary water rights. (Id., pp. 960-962 [acknowledging that the Federal Power Act otherwise occupied the field of hydropower relicensing.) In fact, the court expressly distinguished the case from situations, such as those in Sayles Hydro Associates v. Maugham (9th 1993) 985 F.2d 451, where state law did impact the licensing and operating conditions of a hydropower project. (Id., p. 961 ["This situation therefore differs ... from Sayles... in which the state sought to impose operating conditions beyond those required by FERC"].)

(*Ibid.*) Here, proprietary water rights are not at issue, and *County of Amador* is inapplicable.⁵

- B. No Unsettled Issue is Presented in Issue No. 2 Because the Water Board's Authority to Issue the 401 Certificate Under the Clean Water Act and Related CEQA Review is Not Part of this Proceeding.
 - 1. 401 Certification is not at Issue in this Proceeding.

Petitioners incorrectly argue that the Opinion's finding of preemption interferes with "CEQA compliance as an 'appropriate requirement' of state law informing water quality certification by the [Water Board]" under Section 401 of the Clean Water Act. (Petition, pp. 9-10.) The Court of Appeal held that Petitioners cannot challenge the environmental sufficiency of the Settlement Agreement before FERC in state court in order to delay the issuance of the FERC license, because jurisdiction to review the matter lies exclusively with FERC. (Opinion, pp. 6, 32.) No unsettled question of law exists, because the proceeding here *did not involve* the authority of the state under Section 401 of the federal Clean Water Act or the scope of environmental review in support of a 401 certificate.

⁵ Petitioners also claim in passing that *County of Amador* concluded that CEQA is only informational, and does not impose conditions or mandate how a project should be run. (Petition, p. 30.) If so, then Petitioners' requested relief that DWR's license renewal application be withdrawn and the project enjoined pending the addition of enforceable mitigation measures, are unfounded.

As the Court of Appeal held: "Neither the program subject to SWRCB review, nor the Certificate by which the SWRCB exercises its section 401 authority to *implement* the provisions of Appendix A are the subject of plaintiffs' petition." (Opinion, p. 20.) Instead, this proceeding is an improper challenge under state law to the sufficiency of federal environmental review of the FERC Settlement Agreement in the relicensing proceeding. (Opinion, pp. 6, 32.)

All parties to the proceedings, and the Court of Appeal, recognized the limited exception to federal jurisdiction found in Section 401 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. § 1341), and that the Water Board's decision to issue the 401 Certificate for the relicensing required compliance with CEQA. (Opinion, pp. 7 n.9, 16; Water Code § 13160 et seq.; 23 C.C.R. § 3856(f).) Conditions in a 401 Certificate are incorporated into a FERC license. (33 U.S.C. § 1341(d).)

Petitioners, however, "did not challenge and could not challenge the SWRCB Certificate in their pleadings because it did not exist at the time this action was filed." (Opinion, p. 6.) In fact, Petitioners stipulated to the dismissal of the Water Board from this proceeding in 2009, before the 401 Certificate was even issued. (AA2 {29}, pp. 0284-0300.) The 401 Certificate for the

_

⁶ In its Request for Depublication, the Water Board *supported* the determination by the Court of Appeal that Petitioners challenges were preempted by federal law. (Request for Depublication, p. 1.) In fact, the Water Board agreed that "neither the Water Board's section 401 water quality certificate (issued in 2010) nor its process in issuing that approval under the Clean Water Act, were challenged" in this case. (*Id.* at 2.)

Oroville Facilities became final 30 days after its issuance, and may not now be reconsidered or redone under the strict time limits of the Clean Water Act. (Water Code §§ 13330(a), (d); 33 U.S.C. § 1341(a)(1); *Hoopa Valley Tribe v. FERC* (D.C. Cir. 2019) 913 F.3d 1099, 1105; Placer County Water Agency (Project No. 2079-081), Order Denying Rehearing, 169 FERC 61046, 2019 WL 5288297)

Thus, the Court of Appeal correctly found that neither the program subject to Water Board review nor the 401 Certificate issued by the Water Board for the Oroville Facilities is at issue in this proceeding.⁷ (Opinion, p. 20.) As such, there is no important or unsettled issue involving a CEQA challenge to the environmental impact report supporting a Clean Water Act certificate presented by this case warranting review, as Petitioners incorrectly claim in Issue 2.

2. Petitioners Misconstrue the Court of Appeal's Opinion Regarding 401 Certification to Manufacture Uncertainty Where None Exists.

Attempting to manufacture an unsettled or important issue where none exists, Petitioners contend the Opinion contains two

⁷ Because this case does not involve issues concerning the scope of

the Water Board's authority under Section 401 of the Clean Water Act, the United States Supreme Court's decision in *PUD No. 1 v. Washington Dep't Ecology* (1994) 511 U.S. 700 does not apply. *PUD No. 1* concerned the inclusion of minimum flow standards promulgated under Section 303 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. § 313) as part of a 401 Certification, which the Court held was properly within the limited scope of authority delegated to states in Section 401. (*Id.*, p. 723.)

"untenable" conclusions: (1) that the "environmental predicate" to section 401 water quality certification is subject to FERC review; and (2) that CEQA water quality compliance can await a later "implementation stage." (Petition, pp. 10, 32-38.) Petitioners misconstrue the Court of Appeal's opinion in both respects.

First, the Court of Appeal did not conclude that FERC has the authority to review the basis for the Water Board's 401 Certificate or the 401 Certificate itself, as asserted by Petitioners. (Petition, pp. 32-35.) As acknowledged by the Water Board's Request for Depublication (p. 3), statements to the effect that the "environmental predicate" to the 401 Certificate is subject to FERC review refer to review of the Settlement Agreement concerning the relicensing, not the 401 Certificate issued by the Water Board, which is not at issue in this proceeding. (See Opinion, pp. 5-6, 20, 32.)

Specifically, the Court of Appeal acknowledged that preparation and certification of an EIR under the terms of CEQA and directed to the environmental effects of the state's water quality law is required *before* the Water Board can issue a 401 Certificate. (Opinion, pp. 5, 15-16.) The Court of Appeal recognized that FERC is required to incorporate into the final license conditions imposed by the 401 Certificate. (*Ibid.*) The program or "environmental predicate" subject to relicensing is the Settlement Agreement, specifically Appendix A. (*Id.*, pp. 2-3.) As the proposed license, Appendix A is also the "environmental predicate" for the issuance of the 401 Certificate. (*Id.*, p. 5) The

Opinion differentiates review of the environmental matters in Appendix A of the Settlement Agreement for purposes of the relicensing by FERC, from review "by the SWRCB as a predicate for the state's more stringent water quality conditions." (*Id.*, p. 11.) Petitioners challenge the Settlement Agreement before FERC, seeking to interfere with the licensing process. (Opinion, p. 3.) In the context of the case before it, the Court of Appeal determined that the environmental sufficiency of the Settlement Agreement in the relicensing process is subject to FERC review. (Opinion, pp. 6, 32.)

Second, Petitioners are incorrect that the Court of Appeal assumed that CEQA compliance supporting a water quality certification "awaits" a subsequent implementation stage. (Petition, pp. 35-37.) Again, the Opinion clearly states that preparation and certification of an EIR under the terms of CEQA and directed to the environmental effects of the state's more stringent water quality law is required *before* the Water Board can issue a 401 Certificate. (Opinion, pp. 5, 15-16.)

In the context of the FERC relicensing process, however, the changes or conditions subsequently imposed on the license by the issued 401 Certificate do not go into effect until the license is issued. (Opinion, p. 16.) At that point, the "program" is no longer Appendix A of the Settlement Agreement, but rather an "amended" program that now also incorporates conditions imposed by the Water Board in the final 401 Certificate. (*Ibid.*) It is this future "amended program," that the Court acknowledges

may be subject to future CEQA review when implemented. (*Id.*, pp. 11-12, 19-20.)

In sum, neither of these asserted "untenable conclusions" raised by Petitioners presents an unsettled or important issue warranting review, in particular because neither conclusion impacts the Court of Appeal's conclusion that the Petitioners' challenge to the environmental sufficiency of the Settlement Agreement before FERC is preempted by the Federal Power Act.

- V. Review Should be Denied For the Further Reason that Due to Petitioners' Procedural Missteps Below, This Case is Not an Appropriate Vehicle to Address Any of the Issues They Seek to Raise.
 - A. Petitioners Failed to Utilize Federal Remedies Available to them in the Relicensing Process

This matter comes to this Court following a series of missteps by Petitioners. As active participants in the extensive federal relicensing process for the Oroville Facilities before FERC, Petitioners had ample opportunity, both administratively and judicially, to challenge the federal and state regulatory actions concerning environmental issues. But Petitioners never availed themselves of their primarily federal remedies.

Nothing prevents parties concerned with the environmental impacts of a hydroelectric license from participating in the extensive consideration of environmental issues under the FERC relicensing process itself. (Opinion, p. 10.) As the Court of Appeal noted, FERC regulations provide for federal administrative review to resolve disputes over "required environmental studies." (Opinion, p. 12; 18 C.F.R. §

4.34(i)(6)(vii).) Petitioners failed to seek relief for their disputes over the environmental analysis before FERC. (Opinion, p. 12.)

Petitioners also could have challenged the biological opinions issued for the Oroville relicensing by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the National Marine Fisheries Service. But they did not. Petitioners could have brought a challenge to the FERC's environmental impact statement. But they did not. And, they could have challenged the Water Board's 401 Certificate. But they did not. Instead, Petitioners sought to use state law—CEQA—to collaterally attack the environmental sufficiency of the FERC Settlement Agreement, when federal law has been conclusively determined to preempt state law in this area. (Opinion, pp. 6, 32)

This case does not present a situation in which Petitioners, or any other stakeholders in a relicensing proceeding, are deprived of a forum in which to voice environmental concerns.

B. Petitioners' Requested Relief Has Nothing to Do with Discretionary Decisions of DWR.

Petitioners' CEQA action below challenged the environmental sufficiency of the FERC Settlement Agreement, and "sought to enjoin the issuance of an extended license until their environmental claims were reviewed." (Opinion, pp. 3, 6.) As an attack on the FERC Settlement Agreement, Petitioners actions have nothing to do with DWR's application to FERC to pursue licensing, to enter into the Settlement Agreement, or to submit the Settlement Agreement to FERC. The challenged EIR was not issued to support any of these decisions, all of which were made *prior* to its issuance. As such, Petitioners' actions are

not an appropriate vehicle to address application of CEQA to DWR decision making in the context of hydropower relicensing.

C. 401 Certification is not at issue in this Case, and the Deadline to Challenge the 401 Certificate Ran Long Ago.

This case is also not an appropriate vehicle to address the application of CEQA in the 401 certification process for a hydropower relicensing. As previously explained, Petitioners' requested relief in this action does not involve the 401 Certificate issued by the Water Board for the Oroville Facilities. (Opinion, p. 20.)

Furthermore, the 401 Certificate was issued by the Water Board in 2010 and was submitted to FERC. Under California law, the 401 Certificate is now final. (Water Code §§ 13330(a), (d) [establishing a 30-day time limit for challenges to the issued Certificate].) Further, the 401 Certificate cannot now be "reopened" or "redone," under the strict one-year time limit contained in the Clean Water Act. (See 33 U.S.C. § 1341(a)(1) [requiring State to act on an applicant's request for certification within a reasonable period of time which shall not exceed one year or else the certification requirement is waived]; *Hoopa Valley Tribe v. FERC* (D.C. Cir. 2019) 913 F.3d 1099, 1105; Placer County Water Agency (Project No. 2079-081), Order Denying Rehearing, 169 FERC 61,046, 2019 WL 5288297.) The time has long since run for any challenge to the 401 Certificate in this case, and Petitioners' attack fails for this reason alone.

D. DWR is not Similarly Situated to Other Public Entities in the Relicensing Process.

This case is the wrong vehicle to address challenges to the FERC license for another reason—DWR's position as an applicant for a FERC license is not the same as other public agencies seeking relicensing of hydropower projects in California. While other public agencies may exercise discretion whether to apply for a new license or accept or reject a license once issued by FERC, DWR has no such discretion. Under Water Code Section 11464 (quoted at footnote 2 above), DWR is specifically prohibited from divested itself of any facility for the generation of electric power, under the so-called nonalienation mandate. Under this mandate, DWR may not reject a FERC license, which would divest it of a facility for the generation of hydroelectric power. Thus, DWR is not like other agencies, which retain the right to surrender or transfer a FERC license, subject to FERC approval. (16 U.S.C. § 799, 18 C.F.R. §§ 6.1, 6.2.)

In short, this case is not an appropriate vehicle to address application of CEQA to a public agency's decision whether to accept, reject or surrender a FERC license once issued.

VI. Conclusion

The Petition for Review should be denied.